# Front Porches and Freeways: Does Rural or Urban Residence Matter for Couple Relationship

**Education Outcomes?** 

by

Sarah Joy Fuller

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Master of Science

Auburn, Alabama August 5, 2017

Keywords: rural, rural-urban differences, couple relationship education, couple satisfaction, positive-negative interactions

Copyright 2017 by Sarah Joy Fuller

## Approved by

Thomas A. Smith, Chair, Associate Professor of Human Development and Family Studies and Director

Francesca Adler-Baeder, Professor of Human Development and Family Studies and State Extension Specialist

Scott A. Ketring, Associate Professor of Human Development and Family Studies

#### Abstract

The purpose of this study was to advance explorations of the possible differential effects of rural versus urban residence and income on individuals' couple relationship outcomes following participation in a couple relationship education program. The study used measures of couple quality, positive interactions, and negative interactions as indicators of relationship outcomes both at baseline and at post-test to capture a better picture of possible factors involved in change. Results of this study indicated that, at baseline, urban individuals report statistically significant, higher scores of couple quality than rural individuals. Higher couple quality was also reported by higher income individuals, with lower income individuals reporting lower couple quality. Baseline levels of positive and negative interactions did not differ by residence or income. At Time 2, statistically significant effects of income were found for males' negative interactions, with lower income males reporting statistically significantly more change than other income groups. No other statistically significant effects emerged at Time 2. These results indicate that participants, regardless of rural/urban residence or level of income, benefit similarly from CRE programming. Baseline results indicating that urban individuals report higher couple quality than rural individuals suggest a need for further exploration into relational differences between rural and urban populations.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Scott Ketring for serving on my committee and for his support and assistance during the process, both in research and in therapy training. I would also like to thank Dr. Francesca Adler-Baeder for serving on my committee and for her helpful, patient feedback and encouragement. I would like to especially thank my major professor, Dr. Thomas Smith, for his good humor, patience, and unwavering encouragement as I made the journey through the thesis process. His support and guidance, both in thesis and in therapy training, have been invaluable.

I would also like to thank my fiancé, John Bradley, for his ability to keep me motivated, as well as his unconditional love, support, and many home cooked meals. I would also like to thank my cohort for being there during this process as an irreplaceable support network. I would like to thank my family for always believing in me and supporting me throughout my academic career. Lastly, I would like to thank God, without whom none of this would be possible.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	vi
Introduction	1
Rural and Urban Communities	4
Effects of Income	9
Critical Indicators of Overall Relationship Health	10
Current Study	14
Methods	15
Participants	16
Procedures	18
Measures	19
Independent Variables	19
Dependent Variables	20
Results	22
Descriptive Statistics and Correlations	22

Research Question 1: Do mean differences in measures of relationship health exist between participants at baseline, based upon rural or urban residence and income?	
Research Question 2: Do mean differences in change in measures of relationship health exbetween participants over time, based upon rural or urban residence and income?	
Discussion	34
Outcome Differences at Baseline	34
Outcome Differences at Time 2.	35
Implications	37
Limitations and Future Directions	38
Conclusions	41
References	42
Appendix A	56

# **List of Tables**

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants by Rural/Urban Residence	16
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics at Time 1 for Composite Couple Quality, Composite Negative	
Interactions, and Composite Positive Interactions by Gender	22
Table 3. Correlations for Female Participants at Time 1 and Time 2	23
Table 4. Correlations of Male Participants at Time 1 and Time 2	.24
Table 5. Two-Way ANOVA for Couple Quality at Time 1 with Female and Male Participants	by
Rural/Urban Residence and Income	25
Table 6. Two-Way ANOVA for Positive Interactions at Time 1 with Female and Male	
Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income.	27
Table 7. Two-Way ANOVA for Negative Interactions at Time 1 with Female and Male	
Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income.	28
Table 8. Two-Way ANOVA for Couple Quality at Time 2 with Female and Male Participants	by
Rural/Urban Residence and Income	30
Table 9. Two-Way ANOVA for Positive Interactions at Time 2 with Female and Male	
Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income.	31
Table 10. Two-Way ANOVA for Negative Interactions at Time 2 with Female and Male	
Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income	33

#### Introduction

In recent decades, research has indicated a positive impact of numerous couple relationship education (CRE) programs upon many couples, children, and families as a whole (Hawkins & Erickson, 2015). CRE programs are often effective in strengthening relationship quality and improving key healthy relationship skills, including communication and problemsolving skills (Gottman & Silver, 1999; Reardon-Anderson, Stagner, Macomber, & Murray, 2005) and commitment and forgiveness (Fincham, Stanley, & Beach, 2007). Effective CRE programs have the potential to be beneficial not only for the couple relationship, but for the whole family (Hawkins & Erickson, 2015). CRE programs have been shown to be effective to varying degrees based on individual participant variables, such as race, but differences in effectiveness based on more contextual variables, such as rurality of residence, have not been the focus of recent research. However, though we know that differences exist in family processes between rural and urban families, such as in dyadic coping (Falconier, Randall, Bodenmann, 2016), what is less well understood is how effects of CRE programs may differ across populations, such as urban and rural. Therefore, this study seeks to examine potential differences in CRE outcomes between urban and rural couples in order to determine if further study examining the customization of CRE programming would better address the needs of rural or urban populations.

The understanding and application of theory is critical to the design, implementation, and evaluation of effective CRE programs (Adler-Baeder, Higginbotham, & Lamke, 2004;

Higginbotham, Henderson, & Adler-Baeder, 2007). The design of many CRE programs target changes in behavior based upon behavioral, social learning, and experiential theory assumptions (Markman & Rhoades, 2012). Bandura's social learning theory (1977) states that individuals model their relationship behaviors after examples provided in a social context, as well as develop an understanding of which behaviors will result in positive or negative consequences (Bandura & Walters, 1963), presumably directing individuals to engage in rewarding, rather than punitive, interactions (Thibaut & Kelley, 1959). The classroom structure of CRE programs offers participants an interactive environment where classmates and facilitators can provide social modelling needed to influence a participant's behavior. Experiential learning theory suggests that such interaction between individuals and their environment is necessary for lasting change to occur (Kolb & Kolb, 2012). Experiential learning theory further suggests that learning in a reciprocating environment, such as a CRE program class, will spur learning about positive behaviors and resulting benefits by providing the opportunity to practice such behaviors in class and then to implement them in everyday lives (Carroll & Doherty, 2003).

Many studies have explored the effectiveness of CRE, with conclusions mostly demonstrating positive change but generally, positive change (Rauer, Adler-Baeder, Lucier-Greer, Skuban, Ketring, & Smith, 2014; Williamson, Altman, Hsueh, & Bradbury, 2016), although no change or negative effects have been found in some studies (Wood, McConnell, Moore, Clarkwest, & Hsueh, 2012). Frequently, CRE program design specifically targets certain groups, differentiated by demographics, family situation, gender, or income level. A few programs have taken the initiative to conduct self-evaluations to understand the needs of their

intended recipients, subsequently tailoring their curricula to meet those needs. For example, the Smart Steps for Stepfamilies curriculum uses research-based material to address the unique needs faced by stepfamily couples (Higginbotham & Adler-Baeder, 2010; Lucier-Greer, Adler-Baeder, Harcourt, & Gregson, 2014; Reck, 2013; Higginbotham & Skogrand, 2010). Some analyses have indicated that relationship education is more beneficial for at-risk populations, such as those with a lower income (Adler-Baeder, Bradford, Skuban, Lucier-Greer, Ketring, & Smith, 2014; Adler-Baeder et al., 2010; Carlson, Barden, Daire, & Greene, 2014) while a recent meta-analysis (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010) found a slightly less efficacious result for lower income participants as compared to their middle-class counterparts. Researchers suggest that numerous life stressors and environmental factors of lower-income individuals might have contributed to the greater effects in studies of higher resource couples (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010). Individuals residing in a rural area tend to be of lower income than those in urban areas due to geographic dispersion, fewer available jobs, and the thinness of the rural labor market (Muskinski, Bernasek, & Weiler, 2015), suggesting that rural individuals might be among those considered at greater risk. Since rural individuals tend to be more at-risk, and due to mixed results, it remains an empirical question whether rural or urban participants benefit more from CRE.

Examination of the effectiveness of programs designed and focused toward specific audiences might provide both funding sources and those managing the programs with a more significant return on their investment. A study conducted at Duke University, examining the effects of mindfulness on its population of emerging adults, explored several methods for tailoring their curriculum to maximize the benefits for participants, including experimenting with

number of classes and class duration, class size, diversity of participants, and the organization of the curriculum (Rogers, 2013). A report published in the *Rural Educator* (Hill & Turney, 2016) emphasized the need for educators targeting rural areas to customize their programming to meet the unique needs – such as poverty and lack of resources – of those areas. Hill and Turney stated that education is not "one-size-fits-all," rather necessitating a multifaceted, tailored approach, which applies to programs seeking to target rural and urban populations. More research is needed to determine if rural and urban families might warrant different approaches in couple relationship education.

#### **Rural and Urban Communities**

According to the 2010 US Census, 20% of Americans live in rural area (US Department of Commerce, 2010). In the state of Alabama, where data collection occurred for this study, the percentage climbs to 41% of residents (US Department of Commerce, 2010). Rural communities present unique challenges in research, such as researchers' difficulties accessing rural families. Compared with rural communities, urban communities have received greater research attention. For example, we know that barriers such as geographic remoteness and the insular nature of many rural communities sometimes promotes a general mistrust of outsiders (Gumpert & Saltman, 1998; Campbell, Gordon, & Chandler, 2002; Campbell, Kearns, & Patchin, 2006), barriers not generally found when pursuing urban research. Beyond the challenge of access, residents of rural areas typically have, lower incomes than urban residents, possibly due to fewer jobs available, geographic dispersion, and the thinness of the rural labor market (Muskinski, Bernasek, & Weiler, 2015). Many rural communities in the United States have higher rates of

drug use than their urban counterparts, higher rates of depression (Foxhall, 2000), higher rates of tobacco use (Roberts, Doogan, Kurti, et al., 2016), and higher stigma towards mental illness (Jones, Cook, & Wang, 2011). Additionally, rural communities, compared with urban areas, have reported poorer outcomes for victims of domestic violence (Edwards, 2015), lower educational attainment (Tennessee Education Commission, 2013), and poorer child and youth outcomes (Jiang, Sun, & Marsiglia, 2016). Though research has shown that there are fewer resources and more mental health issues in rural areas than urban, the specific needs of the communities as reported by the mental health practitioners serving those areas remain to be identified (Campbell, Kearns, & Patchin, 2006). Such difficult issues impact many aspects of life for residents of these areas, and any program targeting said areas might benefit from taking such influences into consideration in order to offer the best advantages for its participants.

Despite these challenges, it is imperative to understand how programs may differ in their effectiveness in rural versus urban communities. For example, rural participants in relationship education programs differ from their urban counterparts in several ways that might influence the outcome of their participation in those programs. Differences in mental health needs include income disparities; access to mental health services; social support; and differences in community satisfaction, which tend to be higher in rural individuals (Lemke, 1992; McDonald, Curtis-Schaeffer, Theiler, & Howard, 2014; Muskinski, Bernasek, & Weiler, 2015; Theodori, 2001; Ziller, 2010).

While there are significant challenges, there may also be some advantages to living in a rural area versus an urban area. Furthermore, the closeness of rural communities may be much to

their benefit and an effective area to target. Theodori (2001) demonstrated that individuals who report higher levels of community satisfaction and community attachment are more likely to report higher levels of individual well-being, which would seem to counter the numerous challenges associated with life in a rural area. Older research indicates that individuals residing in rural areas tend to be happier and more satisfied with their communities compared to urban residents (Campbell, 1981; Marans & Rodgers, 1975; Ploch, 1985; Rodgers, 1980), though the absence of recent research on this subject suggests that such findings could be outdated. Rural individuals have generally higher rates of religiosity, especially in the South (Chalfant & Heller, 1991) and have generally lower rates of divorce (Shelton, 1987) than urban individuals, though much of the research on rural-urban differences in divorce rates is also older (Lillywhite, 1952; Shelton, 1987; Woodrow, Hastings, & Tu, 1978). This finding could indicate that CRE programs could benefit from targeting the community aspect of both rural and urban areas as a resource to implement change for families.

Additionally, such individuals might find sustained benefits from engaging in a relationship education program in an environment where they feel community support. Lemke (1992) reported that urban individuals expressed more wanted and actualized inclusion than the rural individuals in his study, though this could be due to a cultural difference, where rural residents considered themselves an integral part of their communities and felt less need to reach out to others of those with whom they felt they had an assured relationship. Lemke also reported that individuals in urban and rural areas related differently to their support systems, with urban individuals reaching out more frequently to their communities and relying more on their

secondary relationships. Rural individuals interacted largely with their primary relationships and sought interpersonal contact less often, despite their greater isolation, though the relationship warmth and relational reward of residents in both areas received similar ratings (Lemke, 1992). Such results suggest that clinicians, practitioners, and researchers should consider the differences in delivery of social support and community attachment when approaching the delivery of mental health and relationship education services to the differing populations. Such differences may be relevant, especially when considering the established support system of rural residents versus the more variable and less significant, if larger, amount of support provided by individuals in communities of urban residents (Lemke, 1992).

Other domains outside of CRE, such as substance abuse and medical prevention programs, have found methods effectively targeting populations outside urban areas. For example, the National Institute of Health conducted a study designed to target rural populations in order to determine the best methods to institute cardiovascular disease prevention programs (Melvin, Corbie-Smith, Kumanyika, et al., 2013). The researchers emphasize the importance of engaging the community in order to effect lasting change, as the community is integral to the life of the individual. By integrating the community factors into the program design, such as integrating programming and facilitators to reflect local diversity and culture, program facilitators can also take advantage of the existing community infrastructure and resources. Additionally, considering community weaknesses and vulnerabilities, building a collaborative spirit that leads to sustainable change within communities is indicated (Melvin, Corbie-Smith, Kumanyika, Pratt, Nelson, Walker, & ... Ricketts, 2013). Finally, programing implemented in a

workshop style designed to involve a larger number of individuals often serves to reduce the deterring impact of stigma often associated with more individualized therapy and encourages greater individual participation in a larger group (Brown, Boardman, Elliott, Howay, & Morrison, 2005), an approach which can be beneficial for both rural and urban participants.

Another study investigated the differences between rural and urban residence after enrollment in the Parent-Child Assistance Program (PCAP), designed to assist high-risk substance-abusing mothers in nine counties in the state of Washington (Shaw, Grant, Barbosa-Leiker, Fleming, Henley, & Graham, 2015). Shaw et al., 2015) found that, though both rural and urban women derived significant benefit from the PCAP in terms of drug usage, they also found distinctions. Rural women had lower usage rates of harder drugs such as heroin and methamphetamines and higher rates of suicidality and alcohol use in the study. Such differences could indicate that women in rural areas might benefit from more targeted programming, specifically focusing on alcohol abuse and suicidal ideation.

Regarding relationships one study found that family structure and familial relationships are of poorer quality in rural areas as compared to urban, which would influence the impact of a CRE program designed to encompass individuals in both regions (Jiang, Sun, & Marsiglia, 2016). Thus, due to the many unique variables influencing the lives of residents in each geographical region, participants might benefit from elements of the curricula tailored to their specific socioeconomic needs. The poorer relationships of rural couples could indicate that, because of their greater needs at baseline, they respond more to programming than urban couples and show more improvement over time. In addition, urban participants might be less responsive

and show less improvement over time compared with rural participants, due to their being less at-risk before the beginning of the program.

#### **Effects of Income**

Research has shown that lower income individuals begin CRE programs at higher levels of relational distress and need compared to less at-risk individuals (Conger et al., 1990; Ooms & Wilson, 2004), due to the stress of economic pressures. As a result, several studies have shown that lower income families especially benefit from CRE training (Adler-Baeder, et al., 2004; Conger, Rueter, & Elder, 1999; Williamson, Altman, Hsueh, & Bradbury, 2016), as their lower levels of predictors of couple satisfaction and quality, such as positive interactions (Fein, 2004), allow for greater improvement over time.

In their meta-analysis, Conger and Elder (1994) reported that economic pressure increased stress-induced outcomes such as irritability, depression, and psychological distress, which lowers marital quality. Newly married wives, when less financially pressured, are better able to balance their new roles in the relationship (Marks, Huston, Johnson, & MacDermid, 2001). Financial stress contributes to the exacerbation of other issues already in existence within the marital relationship, as financial pressure causes a "spill over" effect, causing other issues within the relationship to appear worse in the baleful light of financial hardship (Freeman, Carlson, & Sperry, 1993). Not only does low-income impact marital quality, but it also negatively affects other familial areas, such as parenting ability (Lavee, Sharlin, & Katz, 1996). Individuals living in rural areas tend to be of lower income/SES overall compared to urban (Muskinski, Bernasek, & Weiler, 2015), which may affect the responsiveness of rural individuals

to relationship programming based on their increased level of need.

# **Critical Indicators of Overall Relationship Health**

The couple dyad is the foundation of the family, therefore when a couple undergoes a change in their relationship, the effects of the change ripple outward through the rest of the family system, changing the way parents interact with their children and the way children interact with each other (Adler-Baeder, Shirer, & Bradford, 2007; Adler-Baeder et al., 2016). The National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Model (NERMEM) (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2014) outlines seven research-based principles critical to successful CRE programs based on studies of predictors of marital quality: Choose, Care for Self, Know, Care, Share, Manage, and Connect. The principle of Choose emphasizes the importance of committing effort to the relationship by making intentional relationship decisions. Care for Self reminds learners that taking care of oneself spiritually, emotionally, sexually, and physically is paramount for overall relationship health. Knowledge of one's partner is the focus of the *Know* principle, instructing learners of the importance of gaining knowledge about their partner's world. Care focuses on showing support of, kindness to, and affection for one's partner. Connectivity and friendship are the focus of the *Share* principle. *Manage* focuses on how partners deal with conflicts, difficulties, life events, and stressors that can surround and possibly influence the relationship. Finally, *Connect* directs focus outward, stressing the importance of building community and social support beyond the couple relationship. The basis for the NERMEM principles is an extensive review of decades of research on predictors of marital quality and are determined to be of paramount importance in the business of improving relationships through

CRE programs. NERMEM enables the customization of programming to target unique audiences while building upon a foundation of evidence-based principles, as well as indicating that curricula emphasizing the seven NERMEN principles have a research-based probability of success.

The many factors discussed above combine to contribute to relationship health. To streamline the focus of this study, measures of positive and negative interactions, which respectively represent the *Care* and *Manage* NERMEM principles, as well as a measure of overall couple quality, were chosen to examine the effect of rural/urban residence and income on CRE participants. Additionally, the measures of couple quality, positive interactions, and negative interactions utilized in the present study had previously been established as reliable (Adler-Baeder et al., 2010; Adler-Baeder et al., 2013; Rauer et al., 2014) as well as other studies examining relationships (Karney, Bradbury, Fincham, & Sullivan, 1994; Ketring et al., 2017; McNulty & Karney, 2004; Schramm & Adler-Baeder, 2011).

Positive and Negative Interactions. The behavior exchange model (Jacobson, McDonald, Follette, & Berle, 1985) indicates that relationship partners behave in certain ways and evaluate the interactions that follow according to a cost-benefit ratio. In short, "Is what I receive worth what I give?" Previous research has indicated the importance of positive interactions in a couple relationship, recommending a ratio of five positive interactions for every negative interaction during conflict resolution (Hawkins, Carrere, & Gottman, 2002) and up to fifteen positive interactions for every one negative interaction in general interaction (Gottman, 1999). CRE programs draw upon research that demonstrates that positive couple interactions, such as being

supportive of, expressing love to, or doing something nice for one's partner, are predictive of higher marital quality and satisfaction (Canary, Stafford, & Semic, 2002; Gottman & DeClaire, 2001; Huston, Coughlin, Houts, Smith, & George, 2001). Frequent negative interactions, such as defensiveness or contempt, often have negative effects on the mental and physical health of partners, while couples who engage in frequent positive interactions, including humor and affection, do not demonstrate those negative effects (Levinger & Moles, 1979). Couples who have more positive interactions than negative ones are more likely to feel positively about their relationship, which boosts one's relational confidence and the stability of the relationship (Stanley, Amato, Johnson, & Markman, 2006). Additionally, couples who make a habit of interacting positively with each other, rather than negatively, are likely to have an increased ability to handle the difficulties of their relationship as well as an increased amount of trust in their partner (Karney & Bradbury, 2000). Especially during conflict, an interaction containing positive affect can be predictive of the future health of the relationship (Driver & Gottman, 2004). Couples with absent or low occurrence of positive affect in interactions, more than the presence of negative affect interactions, are more likely to divorce (Gottman, 1994).

Multiple studies have demonstrated the positive effects of CRE upon the levels of positive and negative interactions in couple and family relationships (Adler-Baeder et al., 2013; Rauer et al., 2014; Schramm & Adler-Baeder, 2012). In their investigation of effects following CRE program participation, Rauer et al. (2014) found that improvements in the amount of positive interactions coupled with decreases in negative interactions predicted increases in the level of commitment to the relationship, which enhanced marital quality overall.

Couple Quality. The determination of couple quality involves many factors, including both couple-determined factors such as communication and sex and environmental factors such as job stress or poverty. Investigations of marital quality in rural areas or comparisons to urban marital quality are rare and are more than 30 years old. For example, Burchinal's study (1961) of marital satisfaction measured differences in educational attainment in addition to occupational prestige of the husband only. Burchinal's conclusion that the husband's occupation was most significantly predictive of the wife's marital satisfaction is likely different more than fifty years later, but his statement that indicators of marital satisfaction are not equivalent in rural and urban couples needs further study to determine its veracity in a more modern age. Improving couple satisfaction is an understood goal of CRE, and exploring whether rural and urban individuals have different couple quality outcomes in CRE courses is a beginning step toward better understanding the needs of targeted audiences.

While many CRE studies include rural participants, there is a dearth of literature that consider rurality as a variable and no studies measuring positive and negative interactions specifically among rural couples exists. The few studies regarding positive relational interactions among rural individuals focuses on student-teacher relationships (Zeman, 2003) or parent-child relationships (Thompson, 1995). Exploring how CRE programs impact the participants' outcomes regarding positive and negative interactions in rural families can lead to studies of rural and urban couples' needs in CRE and a better understanding of the most effective ways to impact relationships in different settings.

# **Current Study**

Based on review of the available literature, which indicates several variations between rural and urban populations, including average income, the current study seeks to add to the literature by examining whether mean differences in measurements of relationship health exist between participants at baseline and in change over time, based upon rural or urban residence and income. For the purposes of this study, the Alabama Department of Public Health (ADPH) definitions for a rural or urban area based upon population per square mile, the size and number of cities in a county, percentage of total employment comprised by employment in public education, and per capita agricultural sales are utilized (2007). Of Alabama's 67 counties, 12 meet the criteria outlined by ADPH for urban counties: Calhoun, Etowah, Houston, Jefferson, Lauderdale, Lee, Madison, Mobile, Montgomery, Morgan, Shelby, and Tuscaloosa. The remaining 55 counties are rural.

Because previous research is limited, the current study explores two research questions. First, do CRE participants differ in relationship quality at baseline, based on rural or urban residence or income (RQ1)? Secondly, do CRE participants demonstrate differences in change based upon rural or urban residence or income (RQ2)? Based on indicators found in previous research of differences between rural and urban regions in culture, social interactions, as well as numerous other areas, it is possible that differences could exist in levels of relationship quality following participation in a CRE program. Exploring these research questions will help increase our knowledge of potential differing needs of those individuals encompassing such a large percentage of the population, as well as indicate if future research is necessary to improve our

understanding of the best way to serve urban and rural audiences.

#### Methods

# **Participants**

Recruitment of participants was part of a federally funded healthy marriage and relationship education initiative. Volunteer participants eliminated from the sample indicated that they were not currently in a relationship, leaving 2,729 participants. Of those who provided this information, 1,833 (67%) were from urban counties while the remaining 896 (33%) participants were from rural counties in Alabama.

On average, participants who answered questions were 35 years of age (SD = 11.5; range 15 to 84 years) and the majority were female (68%). Fifty-two percent of participants were married, 11.8% engaged, and 35.3% dating. Thirty-three percent of participants reported attending class with their spouse. Table 1 includes complete demographics grouped into rural and urban categories.

Table 1.

Demographic Characteristics of Participants by Rural/Urban Residence

	Rural		Url	oan	$\chi^2$	df
_	N	%	N	%		
Gender						
Men	265	29.6	603	32.9	0.09	2.87
Women	626	69.9	1226	66.9		
Unspecified	5	0.6	4	0.2		
Relationship Status					0.90	1.09
Married	464	51.8	980	53.5		

Engaged   109				I		I	
Education Less than high school 182 20.3 340 18.5  Completed high school or GED 267 29.8 393 21.4  Some college 198 22.1 382 20.8  2-year college/technical degree 91 10.2 218 11.9  4-year college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.) 38 4.2 154 8.4  Ethnicity	Engaged	109	12.2	211	11.5		
Completed high school   182   20.3   340   18.5	Dating	323	36	642	35		
Completed high school or GED 267 29.8 393 21.4  Some college 198 22.1 382 20.8  2-year college/technical degree 91 10.2 218 11.9  4-year college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.) 38 4.2 154 8.4  Ethnicity 0.07 11.68  European-American 470 52.5 862 47  African-American 375 41.9 884 48.2  Other 37 4.1 65 3.5  Employment Status  Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 57,000 202 22.5 406 22.1  \$7,000 \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	Education					0.00***	54.50
GED       267       29.8       393       21.4         Some college       198       22.1       382       20.8         2-year college/technical degree       91       10.2       218       11.9         4-year college degree       74       8.3       267       14.6         Post college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.)       38       4.2       154       8.4         Ethnicity       0.07       11.68         European-American       470       52.5       862       47         African-American       375       41.9       884       48.2         Other       37       4.1       65       3.5         Employment Status       50       0.01***       8.70         Full-time       358       40       833       45.4         Part-time       97       10.8       194       10.6         Unemployed       374       41.7       667       36.4         Total Household Income       0.00***       29.56         < \$7,000	Less than high school	182	20.3	340	18.5		
2-year college/technical degree 91 10.2 218 11.9 4-year college degree 74 8.3 267 14.6  Post college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.) 38 4.2 154 8.4  Ethnicity 0.07 11.68  European-American 470 52.5 862 47  African-American 375 41.9 884 48.2  Other 37 4.1 65 3.5  Employment Status 0.01*** 8.70  Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 0.000*** 29.56  < \$7,000 \$202 \$22.5 \$406 \$22.1  \$7,000 \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6		267	29.8	393	21.4		
degree       91       10.2       218       11.9         4-year college degree       74       8.3       267       14.6         Post college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.)       38       4.2       154       8.4         Ethnicity       0.07       11.68         European-American       470       52.5       862       47         African-American       375       41.9       884       48.2         Other       37       4.1       65       3.5         Employment Status       0.01***       8.70         Full-time       358       40       833       45.4         Part-time       97       10.8       194       10.6         Unemployed       374       41.7       667       36.4         Total Household Income       0.00****       29.56         < \$7,000	Some college	198	22.1	382	20.8		
Post college degree (ex: Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.) 38 4.2 154 8.4 Ethnicity 0.07 11.68 European-American 470 52.5 862 47 African-American 375 41.9 884 48.2 Other 37 4.1 65 3.5 Employment Status 0.01*** 8.70 Full-time 358 40 833 45.4 Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6 Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4 Total Household Income \$< \$7,000 \$202 \$22.5 \$406 \$22.1 \$7,000 \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8 \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2 \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1 \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8 \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6		91	10.2	218	11.9		
Master's, Ph.D., M.D., J.D.)       38       4.2       154       8.4         Ethnicity       0.07       11.68         European-American       470       52.5       862       47         African-American       375       41.9       884       48.2         Other       37       4.1       65       3.5         Employment Status       0.01***       8.70         Full-time       358       40       833       45.4         Part-time       97       10.8       194       10.6         Unemployed       374       41.7       667       36.4         Total Household Income       0.00***       29.56         < \$7,000	4-year college degree	74	8.3	267	14.6		
European-American 470 52.5 862 47 African-American 375 41.9 884 48.2  Other 37 4.1 65 3.5  Employment Status 0.01*** 8.70  Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 0.00*** 29.56  <\$7,000 202 22.5 406 22.1  \$7,000 \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	<b>.</b> .	38	4.2	154	8.4		
African-American 375 41.9 884 48.2  Other 37 4.1 65 3.5  Employment Status  Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 0.00*** 29.56  <\$7,000 202 22.5 406 22.1  \$7,000 -\$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	Ethnicity					0.07	11.68
Other       37       4.1       65       3.5         Employment Status       0.01***       8.70         Full-time       358       40       833       45.4         Part-time       97       10.8       194       10.6         Unemployed       374       41.7       667       36.4         Total Household Income       0.00***       29.56         < \$7,000	European-American	470	52.5	862	47		
Employment Status  Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 0.00*** 29.56  < \$7,000 202 22.5 406 22.1  \$7,000 - \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	African-American	375	41.9	884	48.2		
Full-time 358 40 833 45.4  Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6  Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4  Total Household Income 0.00*** 29.56  <\$7,000 202 22.5 406 22.1  \$7,000 - \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8  \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2  \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1  \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8  \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	Other	37	4.1	65	3.5		
Part-time 97 10.8 194 10.6 Unemployed 374 41.7 667 36.4 Total Household Income 202 22.5 406 22.1 \$7,000 - \$13,999 89 9.9 180 9.8 \$14,000 and \$24,000 124 13.8 168 9.2 \$25,000 and \$39,000 126 14.1 241 13.1 \$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8 \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	Employment Status					0.01***	8.70
Unemployed       374       41.7       667       36.4         Total Household Income       0.00***       29.56         < \$7,000	Full-time	358	40	833	45.4		
Total Household Income	Part-time	97	10.8	194	10.6		
< \$7,000	Unemployed	374	41.7	667	36.4		
\$7,000 - \$13,999	Total Household Income					0.00***	29.56
\$14,000 and \$24,000	< \$7,000	202	22.5	406	22.1		
\$25,000 and \$39,000	\$7,000 - \$13,999	89	9.9	180	9.8		
\$40,000 and \$74,999 150 16.7 363 19.8 \$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	\$14,000 and \$24,000	124	13.8	168	9.2		
\$75,000 and \$99,999 51 5.7 157 8.6	\$25,000 and \$39,000	126	14.1	241	13.1		
	\$40,000 and \$74,999	150	16.7	363	19.8		
> \$100,000 30 3.3 107 5.8	\$75,000 and \$99,999	51	5.7	157	8.6		
- <u> </u>	> \$100,000	30	3.3	107	5.8		

<sup>\*\*\* =</sup> p < 0.001

#### **Procedures**

Participant recruitment occurred in communities across 60 Alabama counties through local family and children service centers and by distributing advertisement materials in surrounding areas. Participants had the opportunity to choose one of four programs, all of which were open to the community. Study participants completed a pre-program questionnaire containing approximately 130 questions, requiring about 30-45 minutes to complete. The questions pertained to their views of their relationships and families in reference to beliefs, attitudes, experiences, and behaviors. Each participant also answered basic demographic and socioeconomic questions about their households. Appendix A. includes the items from the pre-program questionnaire. Following completion of the CRE course, each participant received a post-program questionnaire identical to the pre-program survey, excepting the addition of questions pertaining to instructor and class evaluation.

Participants had the option of choosing one of four possible curricula that most suited their needs, all of which addressed the core content areas described below. The National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Model (NERMEM) (Futris & Adler-Baeder, 2014) principles state that curricula which emphasize seven core content areas (*Choose, Care for Self, Know, Care, Share, Manage, and Connect*) are likely equivalent in effectiveness. The four curricula options, which are all research-based and grounded in a systemic framework included: *Together We Can* (TWC: Shirer, 2009); *Mastering the Mysteries of Love* (MML: Guerney & Ortwein, 2004); *Basic Training for Black Couples* (BTBC: Slack & Muhammad, 2005), and *Smart Steps for Stepfamilies* (SS: Adler-Baeder, 2007). The four curricula were consistent with

the NERMEM principles. All classes occurred on a rotating basis, and each individual completed at least one class of a CRE course, the full length of which was 6-12 classes, depending upon the curriculum. Previous studies using these data found no differences based on curriculum when curriculum was controlled (Garneau & Adler-Baeder, 2015; Gregson, Adler-Baeder, Parham, Ketring, & Smith, 2012).

#### Measures

### Independent Variables

*Rural or urban residence*. To determine place of residence, participants indicated a written answer to the question "In what county in Alabama do you live?" Counties received classification as rural or urban based on categorization data obtained from the Alabama Department of Public Health (2007). The variables were then dummy coded, with '1' indicating rural and '0' indicating urban. In the sample of respondents, approximately 67% (N = 1,829) indicated urban residence and 33% (N = 891) indicated rural residence.

*Income.* Income was measured as an interval variable, participants completing a survey item asking the question "What is your total household income (gross income) before taxes in the current year?" and indicating one of seven possible answers (range = *less than \$7,000* to \$100,000 or more). Twenty-two percent of the participants had a combined household income that fell below \$7,000, 9.9% were between \$7,000 and \$13,999, 10.7% were between \$14,000 and \$24,000, 13% were between \$25,000 and \$39,000, 19% of the partners' combined income fell between \$40,000 and \$74,999, 7.6% had an income between \$75,000 and \$99,999, and 5%

had an income that totaled over \$100,000.

## Dependent Variables

Couple/Marital Quality. Two different scales measured couple relationship quality. The first measure of relationship quality utilized the Quality of Marriage Index (QMI; Norton, 1983). The 5-item measure asked participants to indicate, using a 7-point Likert scale (answers ranging from 1 = very strongly disagree to 7 = very strongly agree), the extent to which they agreed with five statements about their relationship, including "I feel like a part of a team with my spouse/significant other" and "Our marriage/relationship is strong". For the full measure, see Appendix A. A mean score was computed from these items with higher scores indicating greater marital quality. Cronbach's alphas ranged from 0.97 to 0.98 across time points for this dataset.

Positive Interactions. Participants' positive interactions with their partners was measured using an 8-item scale (Huston & Vangelisti, 1991). The questions were each answered using a 4-point Likert scale (1 = never, 2 = sometime, but not every day, 3 = once or twice a day, 4 = often throughout the day). Questions measured the frequency of behaviors such as saying "I love you" to one's partner, doing something nice for one's partner, and initiating sex with one's partner. For the full measure, see Appendix A. A mean score was computed from these items with higher scores indicating greater frequency of behaviors. Using this dataset, Cronbach's alphas ranged from 0.87 to 0.86 across time points.

Negative Interactions. Participants' negative interactions with their partners was measured using a 7-item scale (Huston & Vangelisti, 1991). The questions were each answered using a 4-point Likert scale (1 = never, 2 = sometime, but not every day, 3 = once or twice a day,

4 = often throughout the day). Questions included measurements determining the frequency of dominating conversation with one's partner, seeming bored or uninterested by one's partner, and turning down or avoiding a partner's sexual advances. For the full measure, see Appendix A. A mean score was computed from these items with higher scores indicating greater frequency of behaviors. Using this dataset, Cronbach's alphas ranged from 0.80 to 0.82 across time points. Plan of Analysis

First, descriptive statistics for all study variables will be calculated (i.e., mean, standard deviation, skewness). Secondly, in order to assess whether mean differences in relationship quality exist for participants at baseline (Time 1), based on rural or urban residence or income, two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) will be conducted (RQ1). Data for male and female participants will be tested separately to avoid possible confounding effects for coupled participants. Finally, in order to determine whether individuals experience different patterns of change over time, based on rural or urban residence and income, additional two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) will be conducted (RQ2), male and female data again tested separately.

#### **Results**

# **Descriptive Statistics and Correlations**

Before testing specific research questions, descriptive statistics for the outcome variables were conducted and are presented in Table 2. Correlations were conducted to explore whether either of the independent variables demonstrated any relationship to the three outcome variables, at Time 1 or Time 2. Mean couple quality scores for females and males at baseline were a moderate 4.88 and 5.17 on a scale of 1 to 7. Positive and negative interaction scores were both between 2 and 3 on a 4-point scale, indicating that participants had mean composite scores of each type of both positive and negative interactions approximately once per day, according to the answers on the scale.

Table 2
Descriptive Statistics at Time 1 for Composite Couple Quality, Composite Negative Interactions, and Composite Positive Interactions by Gender

	Male					Fem	ale	
	N	M (SD)	Mdn	sk (SE)	N	M (SD)	Mdn	sk (SE)
Couple Quality	851	5.17(1.49)	5.40	-0.77(.08)	1766	4.88(1.57)	5.00	63(.60)
Negative Interactions	832	2.14(.69)	2.20	0.35(.09)	1793	2.29(.81)	2.20	.62(.60)
Positive Interactions	851	2.90(.62)	2.88	20(.08)	1762	2.90(.68)	3.00	31(.06)

Tables 3 and 4 include the correlation results for females and males, respectively. For

women, rural/urban residence positively correlated to couple quality at baseline, but not at Time 2. Income, for women, positively correlated to couple quality at baseline and negatively correlated to both positive and negative interactions. At Time 2, income correlated in the same pattern with couple quality and negative interactions but did not correlate with positive interactions. Couple quality positively and negatively correlated with positive and negative interactions, respectively.

For men, rural/urban residence correlated with income at both time points but correlated with couple quality at baseline only. Male income correlated positively and negatively with couple quality and negative interactions, respectively, at both time points. Positive interactions did not statistically significantly correlate with male income or residence at either time point.

Table 3. Correlations for Female Participants at Time 1 and Time 2

	Rural/Urban	Income	Couple Quality	Negative Interactions	Positive Interactions
Rural/Urban	-	-0.03	07**	0.01	-0.05
Income	-0.03	-	.19**	17**	06*
Couple Quality	0.001	.21**	-	55**	.46**
Negative Interactions	0.002	15**	56**	-	30**
Positive Interactions	0.001	-0.03	.47**	35**	-

*Note.* Time 1 above diagonal, Time 2 below diagonal, \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01.

Table 4
Correlations for Male Participants at Time 1 and Time 2

	Rural/Urban	Income	Couple Quality	Negative Interactions	Positive Interactions
Rural/Urban	-	13**	09**	0.06	<-0.01
Income	13**	-	.16**	-0.12**	-0.1
Couple Quality	-0.03	.14**	-	-0.45**	.40**
Negative Interactions	0.06	17**	.42**	-	19**
Positive Interactions	0.05	-0.05	.48**	25**	-

*Note.* Time 1 above diagonal, Time 2 below diagonal, \*\* p < .01.

# Research Question 1: Do mean differences in measures of relationship health exist between participants at baseline, based upon rural or urban residence and income?

Couple Quality. To avoid confounding effects for coupled participants, separate (male and female) two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) examined the possible effect of rural/urban residence and income on couple quality (Table 5). The effect of rural/urban residence on couple quality was found to be statistically significant for both females, F(1, 1557) = 8.02, p < 0.01, partial eta squared = 0.01, and for males, F(1, 763) = 4.66, p < 0.05, partial eta squared = 0.01. An examination of post-hoc tests for males indicated that urban residence was associated with a mean composite couple quality score 0.27, 95% CI [0.02 to 0.51] points higher than rural residence, a statistically significant difference, p < 0.05. An examination of post-hoc tests for females indicated that urban residence was associated with a mean composite couple quality

score 0.29, 95% CI [0.09 to 0.49] points higher than rural residence, a statistically significant difference, p < 0.01. On average, residents in an urban area reported higher couple quality than those in a rural area, for both males and females.

Table 5
Two-Way ANOVA for Couple Quality at Time 1 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	22019.897	1	22019.89	9253.17	0.00	0.86
	Rural/Urban	19.08	1	19.08	8.02	0.01**	0.01
Female	Income	132.81	6	22.14	9.30	0.00***	0.04
	Interaction	16.27	6	2.71	1.14	0.34	0.00
	Error	3705.21	1557	2.38			
							Partial Eta
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Squared
	Intercept	14602.51	1	14602.51	6956.80	0.00	0.90
	Rural/Urban	9.78	1	9.78	4.66	0.03*	0.01
Male	Income	47.02	6	7.84	3.73	0.00***	0.03
	Interaction	7.63	6	1.27	0.61	0.73	0.01
	Error	1601.56	763	2.10			

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> *p* < 0.001, \*\* *p* < 0.01, \* *p* < 0.05.

The effect of income on couple quality was also found to be significant for both females, F(6, 1557) = 9.30, p < 0.01, partial eta squared = 0.04, and for males, F(6, 763) = 3.73, p < 0.01, partial eta squared = 0.03. Examination of post-hoc tests for males indicated that an income of \$75,000-100,000 was associated with couple quality scores 0.89, 95% CI [0.10, 1.68], p < 0.05, points higher than an income of \$7,000-13,999, 0.88, 95% CI [0.14, 1.61], p < 0.01, points higher than an income of \$14,000-24,999, and 0.71, 95% CI [0.00, 1.43], p = 0.05, points higher

than an income of \$25,000-39,000, all statistically significant at the 0.05 level. Examination of post-hoc tests for females indicated that an income of less than \$7,000 was associated with couple quality scores 0.44, 95% CI [-0.88, 0.00], p < 0.05, points lower than an income of \$7,000-13,999, 0.41, 95% CI [-0.81, -0.01], p < 0.05, points lower than an income of \$25,000-39,000, and 0.72, 95% CI [-1.44, 0.00], p < 0.05, points lower than an income of \$100.00 or more, all statistically significant at the 0.05 level. Additionally, females with an income of less than \$7,000 scored 0.74, 95% CI [-1.11, -0.37] points lower than those with an income of \$40,000-74,999 and 0.89, 95% CI [ -1.43, -0.36] points lower than those with an income of \$75,000-100,000, both statistically significant at the 0.001 level. An income, for females, of \$14,000-24,999 was associated with couple quality scores 0.57, CI% [-1.02, -0.11] points lower than an income of \$40,000-74,999 and 0.71, 95% CI [-1.31, -.012] points lower than an income of \$75,000-100,000, both statistically significant at the 0.01 level. On average, men of higher income were more likely to report statistically significantly higher couple quality compared to their lower income counterparts, while women of lower income were more likely to report statistically significantly lower couple quality than their higher income counterparts.

No significant interaction effects were found either for females, F(6, 1557) = 1.14, p = 0.34, partial eta squared = 0.01, or for males, F(6, 763) = 0.61, p = 0.73, partial eta squared = 0.01. An analysis of effect revealed that rural/urban residence and income accounted for 3% of the variability in level of couple quality for males and 4% for females, a small effect.

**Positive Interactions.** To avoid confounding effects for coupled participants, two separate (male and female) two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) examined the possible

effect of rural/urban residence and income on positive interactions (Table 6). The effect of rural/urban residence on positive interactions was not found to be significant for females, F(1, 1552) = 1.37, p = 0.24, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(1, 763) = 0.34, p = 0.56, partial eta squared = 0.00. The effect of income on positive interactions was also not found to be significant for either females, F(6, 1552) = 1.70, P = 0.12, partial eta squared = 0.01, or for males, F(6, 763) = 0.72, P = 0.64, partial eta squared = 0.01. No significant interaction effects were found for females, F(6, 1552) = 0.28, P = 0.95, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, P(6, 763) = 0.76, P = 0.58, partial eta squared = 0.01. Baseline levels of positive interaction did not differ by residence or by income.

Table 6
Two-Way ANOVA for Positive Interactions at Time 1 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	7257.75	1	7257.75	16042.00	0.00	0.91
	Rural/Urban	0.62	1	0.62	1.37	0.24	0.00
Female	Income	4.62	6	0.77	1.70	0.12	0.01
	Interaction	0.76	6	0.13	0.28	0.95	0.00
	Error	702.16	1552	0.45			
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	4612.35	1	4612.35	12162.09	0.00	0.94
Male	Rural/Urban	0.13	1	0.13	0.34	0.56	0.00
	Income	1.64	6	0.27	0.72	0.64	0.01
	Interaction	1.79	6	0.30	0.79	0.58	0.01

Error 289.36 763 0.38

**Negative Interactions.** To avoid confounding effects for coupled participants, two separate (male and female) two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) examined the possible effect of rural/urban residence and income on negative interactions (Table 7). The effect of rural/urban residence on negative interactions was not found to be significant for females, F(1, 1550) = 0.08, P = 0.78, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(1, 763) = 2.30, P = 0.13, partial eta squared = 0.00. The effect of income on negative interactions was also not found to be significant for females, F(6, 1550) = 1.27, P = 0.27, partial eta squared = 0.01, or for males, F(6, 763) = 0.27, P = 0.09, partial eta squared = 0.01. No significant interaction effects were found either for females, F(6, 1550) = 0.73, P = 0.64, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(6, 763) = 1.00, P = 0.42, partial eta squared = 0.01. The level of negative interactions did not differ at baseline by residence or income.

Table 7

Two-Way ANOVA for Negative Interactions at Time 1 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	3146.92	1	3146.92	12473.96	0.00	0.89
	Rural/Urban	0.02	1	0.02	0.08	0.78	0.00
Female	Income	1.92	6	0.32	1.27	0.27	0.01
	Interaction	1.11	6	0.18	0.73	0.62	0.00
	Error	391.03	1550	0.25			
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared

	Intercept	1843.64	1	1843.64	12425.22	0.00	0.94
	Rural/Urban	0.34	1	0.34	2.30	0.13	0.00
Male	Income	1.65	6	0.27	1.85	0.09	0.01
	Interaction	0.89	6	0.15	1.00	0.42	0.01
	Error	113.21	763	0.15			

Research Question 2: Do mean differences in change in measures of relationship health exist between participants over time, based upon rural or urban residence and income?

Couple Quality. Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) compared the effects of rural/urban residence and income on couple quality at Time 2, controlling for Time 1 scores and run separately by gender (Table 8). The effect of rural/urban residence on couple quality was not found to be significant for either females, F(1, 1046) = 0.96, p = 0.33, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(1, 508) = 0.38, p = 0.54, partial eta squared = 0.00. The effect of income on couple quality was also not found to be significant for either females, F(6, 1046) = 1.35, p = 0.23, partial eta squared = 0.01, or for males, F(6, 508) = 1.05, p = 0.39, partial eta squared = 0.01. No significant interaction effects were found either for females, F(6, 1046) = 1.57, p = 0.15, partial eta squared = 0.01, or for males, F(6, 508) = 0.63, p = 0.71, partial eta squared = 0.01. The Time 1 scores for both males and females accounted for 37% and 39%, respectively, of the variance in the Time 2 scores, suggesting that factors present upon entry into the program had more influence over participants' couple quality outcomes over time than either area of residence or income.

Table 8

Two-Way ANOVA for Couple Quality at Time 2 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Female	Intercept	479.82	1	479.82	348.97	0.00	0.25
	Time 1	905.07	1	905.07	658.26	0.00	0.39
	Rural/Urban	1.33	1	1.33	0.96	0.33	0.00
	Income	11.17	6	1.86	1.35	0.23	0.01
	Interaction	12.96	6	2.16	1.57	0.15	0.01
	Error	1438.18	1046	1.38			
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Source Intercept	<i>SS</i> 241.09	<i>df</i>	<i>MS</i> 241.09	<i>F</i> 211.94	Sig. 0.00	
							Squared
Mala	Intercept	241.09	1	241.09	211.94	0.00	Squared 0.29
Male	Intercept Time 1	241.09 343.89	1 1	241.09 343.89	211.94 302.32	0.00	0.29 0.37
Male	Intercept Time 1 Rural/Urban	241.09 343.89 0.44	1 1 1	241.09 343.89 0.44	211.94 302.32 0.38	0.00 0.00 0.54	0.29 0.37 0.00

**Positive Interactions.** Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) examined the possible effects of rural/urban residence and income on positive interactions at Time 2, controlling for Time 1 scores and run separately by gender (Table 9). The effect of rural/urban residence on positive interactions was not found to be significant for either females, F(1, 1041) = 1.06, p = 0.30, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(1, 502) = 0.33, p = 0.57, partial eta squared = 0.00. The effect of income on positive interactions was also not found to be significant for either females, F(6, 1041) = 0.75, p = 0.61, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(6, 502) = 1.23,

p = 0.29, partial eta squared = 0.01. No significant interaction effects were found for females, F (6, 1041) = 1.02, p = 0.41, partial eta squared = 0.01, or males, F (6, 502) = 0.86, p = 0.53, partial eta squared = 0.01. The Time 1 scores for both males and females accounted for 44% and 45%, respectively, of the variance in the Time 2 scores.

Table 9
Two-Way ANOVA for Positive Interactions at Time 2 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	54.27	1	54.27	202.13	0.00	0.16
	Time 1	223.71	1	223.71	833.29	0.00	0.45
Female	Rural/Urban	0.28	1	0.28	1.06	0.30	0.00
remaie	Income	1.21	6	0.20	0.75	0.61	0.00
	Interaction	1.65	6	0.28	0.28 1.02		0.01
	Error	279.48	1041	0.27			
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	16.76	1	16.76	67.70	0.00	0.12
	Time 1	96.59	1	96.59	390.07	0.00	0.44
M-1-	Rural/Urban	0.08	1	0.08	0.33	0.57	0.00
Male	Income	1.82	6	0.30	1.23	0.29	0.01
	Interaction	1.28	6	0.21	0.86	0.53	0.01
	Error	124.31	502	0.25			

*Negative Interactions.* Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the effects of rural/urban residence and income on negative interactions at Time 2, controlling for Time 1 scores and separating analyses by gender. The effect of income on negative interactions

was found to be significant for males, F(6, 501) = 3.68, p < 0.01, partial eta squared = 0.04, though it was not significant for females, F(6, 1036) = 0.73, p = 0.63, partial eta squared = 0.00. An examination of post-hoc tests for males indicated that an income of less than \$7,000 was associated with changes in negative interaction scores 0.27, 95% CI [0.06, 0.48], p < 0.01, points higher than an income of \$14,000-24,999, 0.26, 95% CI [0.05, 1.47], p < 0.01, points higher than an income of \$25,000-39,000, and 0.23, 95% CI [0.04, 0.42], p < 0.01, points higher than an income of \$40,000-74,999, all statistically significant at the 0.01 level. Males in the lowest income group showed significantly more change than all other income groups in improvements in negative interactions.

The effect of rural/urban residence on negative interactions was not found to be significant for females, F(1, 1039) = 0.55, p = 0.46, partial eta squared = 0.00, or males, F(1, 501) = 0.99, p = 0.32, partial eta squared = 0.00. No significant interaction effects were found for females, F(6, 1039) = 0.39, p = 0.89, partial eta squared = 0.00, or for males, F(6, 501) = 0.98, p = 0.44, partial eta squared = 0.01. Though the Time 1 scores for females accounted for 24% of the variance in the Time 2 scores, the Time 1 scores for males accounted for only 13% of the variance, suggesting that other factors might be of greater influence for negative interactions.

Table 10
Two-Way ANOVA for Negative Interactions at Time 2 with Female and Male Participants by Rural/Urban Residence and Income

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	59.40	1	59.40	353.57	0.00	0.25
	Time 1	55.34	1	55.34	329.37	0.00	0.24
Female	Rural/Urban	0.09	1	0.09	0.55	0.46	0.00
remaie	Income	0.73	6	0.12	0.73	0.63	0.00
	Interaction	0.39	6	0.07	0.39	0.89	0.00
	Error	174.56	1039	0.17			
	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Intercept	21.34	1	21.34	121.41	0.00	0.20
	Time 1	12.90	1	12.90	73.39	0.00	0.13
Male	Rural/Urban	0.18	1	0.18	0.99	0.32	0.00
Maie	Income	3.88	6	0.65	3.68	0.00***	0.04
	Interaction	1.03	6	0.17	0.98	0.44	0.01
	Error	88.06	501	0.18			

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> p < 0.001.

#### Discussion

This study examined the possible differential effects of rural or urban residence and income on individuals' couple relationship outcomes measured as couple quality, positive interactions, and negative interactions related to participation in a couple relationship education program. Specifically, this study examined relationship outcomes both at baseline and at post-test to capture a better picture of possible factors involved in change. Results of this study indicated that, at baseline, urban individuals reported statistically significantly higher scores of couple quality than rural individuals. Additionally, statistically significantly higher couple quality was reported by higher income individuals than lower income individuals. Baseline levels of positive and negative interactions did not differ by residence or income. At Time 2, statistically significant effects of income were found for males' negative interactions, with lower income males reporting statistically significantly more change than other income groups. No other statistically significant effects were found at Time 2.

### Outcome Differences at Baseline.

In this study, results for both men and women revealed that rural and urban residents were statistically significantly different at baseline on the measure of couple quality, with urban individuals reporting statistically significantly higher for couple quality at the start of the program than rural. This result is supported by research suggesting that rural individuals face greater challenges overall than urban individuals, including mental health issues and drug use

(Foxhall, 2000; Roberts, Doogan, Kurti, et al., 2016; Shaw, Grant, Barbosa-Leiker, Fleming, Henley, & Graham, 2015), which can negatively impact couple quality.

Statistically significant differences also existed among levels of income at baseline. Higher couple quality was more likely reported by higher income men than lower income men. Lower income women were more likely to report statistically significantly lower couple quality than higher income women. These results are consistent with research indicating that the negative effects of financial strain, including increasing irritability, depression, and psychological distress, contribute to decline in marital quality (Conger & Elder, 1994; Freeman, Carlson, & Sperry, 1993).

Neither positive nor negative interactions were statistically significantly different at baseline, for rural/urban residence or income. For males and females, anywhere from 89% to 94% of the variability of their positive and negative interactions accounted for by factors other than income or place of residence. This result supports previous research, such as Fein's 2004 study, which reported statistically significant correlations between income and predictors of marital quality, also explaining little of the variance. Fein further suggested that, though income has an effect, it is a relatively weak correlation that might be easily displaced by other factors, including external stressors, social support, and cultural norms. The correlations conducted at the beginning of the study indicated that there could be a relationship between the predictor and outcome variables, a prediction supported in part by the results of the analyses of variance.

## Outcome Differences at Time 2.

Rural/urban residence revealed no statistically significant effects upon couple quality at

Time 2, accounting for only 1% of the variability in couple quality scores. This could indicate that, because there is no indicated difference in change between rural and urban individuals following participation in the program, participation in the CRE program benefitted both rural and urban individuals similarly. Such results support findings indicating that at-risk populations are likely to benefit from CRE programs (Adler-Baeder, et al., 2004; Adler-Baeder, Bradford, Skuban, Lucier-Greer, Ketring, & Smith, 2014; Adler-Baeder et al., 2010; Carlson, Barden, Daire, & Greene, 2014; Conger, Rueter, & Elder, 1999; Williamson, Altman, Hsueh, & Bradbury, 2016). The rural population in this study, as shown in Table 1, is more disadvantaged in relation to education, employment, and income compared with urban peers.

For couple quality and income at Time 2, statistically significant differences in change were no longer visible for either men or women after accounting for Time 1 scores, suggesting that CRE programming had a mitigating effect upon the effects of income for participants regarding couple quality. Such a result suggests that, over time, lower and higher income participants benefitted equally from CRE participation.

Just as at baseline, there were no statistically significant difference in change between rural/urban residence and income for positive interactions. This result suggests that participants' positive interactions seem affected equally across time, indicating that neither rural nor urban participants seem to have benefited more from CRE programming. This result was mirrored in examinations of income, which also indicated no statistically significant difference in change between baseline and Time 2.

Differences in change in negative interactions were statistically significantly different for

men at Time 2 regarding income, with lower income men indicating the most change. For men, rural/urban residence and women across both predictors, no additional statistically significant effects were found. Contrary to the other outcome variables, where Time 1 results comprised a large portion of the effect upon the variability of the outcomes, for male negative interaction scores at Time 2, baseline scores accounted for only 13% of the variability of scores. This result suggests that other factors matter more in relation to possible effects upon change in negative interactions than rural/urban residence or income might. Additionally, this result could indicate that males have more influenceable traits and that their outcomes are not determined upon their entry into the program, but by factors such as external stress (Fein, 2004) and possibly, CRE participation.

## **Implications**

Based on the results of this study, the overall effects of rural/urban residence and income on CRE participant outcomes are small. Results at both baseline and Time 2 indicate that a large proportion of the predictors of change exist outside of the variables measured in this study, an encouraging result for CRE programming used in this study. CRE is potentially effective in similar ways for different populations. Though rurality itself was not considered a strong indicator of relationship quality in this study, both the lack of recent literature regarding couple relationship quality in rural areas and the large proportion of rural individuals in the United States (20%), the state of Alabama (41%), and this study (49%) suggest that further exploration of the population is recommended. Most factors that contribute to the overall definition of rurality, including aspects of culture, economy, and ethnic heritage, were not included in this

study.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

This study examined individual participant responses and outcomes, though approximately 33% of participants attended classes with their spouse. Future research should consider the presence of couples in the design of the study, perhaps incorporating them as a focus in the design. Additionally, income was measured as an interval variable, resulting in seven groupings of participants. Grouping the results into two or three groups, such as "high," "middle," and "low" income, could yield more statistically significant results.

Participant data were collected using self-reported measures, which increases the possibility that individuals may answer according to what they deem to be more socially desirable. The addition of partner report measures would enable researchers to better gauge the validity of self-report measures. This study measured only three indicators of couple relationship health, while numerous other factors that impact relationship wellness, such as sexual behaviors, physical exercise, and sleep patterns (Al-Barrak, Shepertycky, & Kryger, 2003; Kahn, Williamson, & Steven, 1991; Sprecher & Cate, 2004), were not included. Future research would benefit from expanding exploration to the other health behaviors that potentially effect relationship health. Additionally, the participants' surveys collected data at a single time point, as opposed to using retrospective questions. This might have increased the likelihood that participants unknowingly over or underestimated their own knowledge at baseline or Time 2, decreasing the accuracy of a comparison across time points.

This study explored two (Care and Manage) of the seven NERMEM principles through

the measures of positive (*Care*) and negative (*Manage*) interactions. The relationship between the remaining five (*Choose, Care for Self, Know, Share*, and *Connect*) principles and both rural/urban residence and income should be taken into consideration for future research. Though the current study explored aspects of relationship health, to retain simplicity, it did not take into account other details about the relationships themselves, for example, number of times married or number of children in the home. The current study also did not include age at marriage or length of relationship, which might be related to several other predictors of relationship health, including education levels, income, marital interactions, and overall couple quality. Additionally, this study did not include control groups, based upon the original data collection. Future studies should endeavor to include the use of control groups to obtain a more accurate representation of change and comparison between groups.

A more multi-faceted definition of rurality, including culture, economy, ethnic heritage, and isolation should be included in future research. There is a definite need for further research into coupled rural relationships, considering that the majority of research examining couple quality and interactions among rural families is several decades old. The current study, though there were few differences in change between rural and urban population reported at Time 2, confirmed that rural participants began the CRE program reporting lower levels of couple quality than their urban peers, a significant finding. Though rural participants have doubtless been included in numerous studies, few in recent years have examined them as a unique population. Research is critical to the development or choice of programming, and evaluation of programs helps determine efficacy and enables the continuous improvement of programs based upon the

outcomes of participants (Higginbotham, Henderson, & Adler-Baeder, 2007). The current study would suggest that further research dedicated to customization for the rural population is not necessary at this time, as curricula utilizing the NERMEM principles seem to be largely equally effective across both rural and urban populations, as well as across variability of income. However, understanding the processes and differences in rural and urban relationships should be a focus of future research.

### **Conclusions**

This exploratory study was a step towards updating our understanding of the possible differences between modern rural and urban populations. This study supports the idea that differences exist between the two populations but that the groups are more alike than they are different with respect to their starting points and experiences in CRE programs. This result benefits CRE developers as it indicates that both rural and urban populations are likely to derive similar benefit from the same programming. However, continued research into the differences between rural and urban populations, considering such differences as income, education, and culture, is essential to updating the literature to increase understanding about modern life and relationships in the differing locales.

### References

- Adler-Baeder, F., Bradford, A., Skuban, E., Lucier-Greer, M., Ketring, S., & Smith, T. (2010).

  Demographic predictors of relationship/marriage education participants' pre- and postprogram relational and individual functioning. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 9, 113–132. doi:10.1080/15332691003694885
- Adler-Baeder, F., Calligas, A., Skuban, E., Keiley, M., Ketring, S., & Smith, T. (2013). Linking changes in couple functioning and parenting among couple relationship education participants. *Family Relations*, 62, 284-297.
- Adler-Baeder, F., Garneau, C., Vaughn, B., McGill, J., Harcourt, K. T., Ketring, S., & Smith, T. (2016). The effects of mother participation in relationship education on coparenting, parenting, and child social competence: Modeling spillover effects for low-income minority preschool children. *Family Process*, doi:10.1111/famp.12267
- Adler-Baeder, F., Higginbotham, B., & Lamke, L. (2004). Putting empirical knowledge to work: Linking research and programming on marital quality. *Family Relations*, *53*(5), 537-546.
- Adler-Baeder, F., Lippert, L., Pflieger, J., Higginbotham, B., Armstrong, S., & Long, A. (2004).

  Evaluating a marriage education program for low-resource families: The Family

  Connections in Alabama project. Technical Report. Auburn University.
- Adler-Baeder, F. (2007). *Smart steps: Embrace the journey*. Auburn, AL: National Stepfamily Resource Center.
- Adler-Baeder, F., Shirer, K., Bradford, A. (2007) What's love got to do with it? The role of

- healthy couple relationships and marriages in promoting child, family, and community well-being. *The Forum for Family and Consumer Issues*.
- Ajayi, I. O., Adebamowo, C., Adami, H., Dalal, S., Diamond, M. B., Bajunirwe, F., & ...

  Holmes, M. D. (2016). Urban-rural and geographic differences in overweight and obesity in four sub-Saharan African adult populations: a multi-country cross-sectional study.

  BMC Public Health, 161-13. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3789-z
- Al-Barrak, M., Shepertycky, M. R., & Kryger, M. H. (2003). Morbidity and mortality in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome 2: Effect of treatment on neuropsychiatric morbidity and quality of life. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 1(2), 65-74.
- Alabama Department of Public Health (2007, October) *Selected Indicators of Health Status in Alabama Alabama's Rural and Urban Counties*. Retrieved June 30, 2016, from http://www.adph.org/ruralhealth/assets/StatewideReport.pdf
- Alabama Department of Public Health (2007, October). Selected Indicators of Health Status in Alabama. Retrieved from http://www.adph.org/ruralhealth/assets/

  ARACCombinedSelectedIndicators.pdf
- Babcock, J. C., Gottman, J. M., Ryan, K. D., & Gottman, J. S. (2013). A component analysis of a brief psycho-educational couples' workshop: one-year follow-up results. *Journal of Family Therapy*, *35*(3), 252-280. doi:10.1111/1467-6427.120171
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, MJ: Prentice Hall.
- Bandura, A. & Walters, R. H. (1963). *Social learning and personality development*. New York, NY: Holt Rinehart and Winston.

- Brown, J., Boardman, J., Elliott, S., Howay, E., & Morrison, J. (2005). Are self-referrers just the worried well? A cross-sectional study of self-referrers to community psychoeducational stress and self-confidence workshops. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 40, 396–401.
- Burchinal, L. G. (1961). Correlates of Marital Satisfaction for Rural Married Couples. *Rural Sociology*, 26(3), 282-289.
- Campbell, A. (1981). *The Sense of Well-Being in America: Recent Patterns and Trends*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Canary, D.J., Stafford, L., & Semic, B.A. (2002). A panel study of the associations between maintenance strategies and relational characteristics. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(2), 395-406.
- Carlson, R. G., Barden, S. M., Daire, A. P., & Greene, J. (2014). Influence of relationship education on relationship satisfaction for low-income couples. *Journal Of Counseling & Development*, 92(4), 418-427.
- Carroll, J. S. & Doherty, W. J. (2003). Evaluating the effectiveness of premarital prevention programs: A meta-analytic review of outcome research. *Family Relations*, *52*(2), 105-118.
- Chalfant, P.N., & Heller, P.L. (1991). Rural/urban versus regional differences in religiosity.

  \*Review of Religious Research, 33, 76–86.
- Conger, R. D., & Elder, G. H., Jr. (1994). Families in troubled times: Adapting to change in rural America. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine De Gruyter.

- Conger, R. D., Elder, G. H., Jr., Lorenz, F. O., Conger, K. J., Simons, R. L., Whitbeck, L. B., Huck, S., & Melby, J. N. (1990). Linking economic hardship to marital quality and instability. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *52*, 643–656.
- Conger, R. D., Rueter, M., & Elder, G. (1999). Couple resilience to economic pressure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 54–71.
- Driver, J. L., & Gottman, J. M. (2004). Daily Marital Interactions and Positive Affect During Marital Conflict Among Newlywed Couples. *Family Process*, *43*(3), 301-314. doi:10.1111/j.1545-5300.2004.00024.x
- Edwards, K. M. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence and the Rural–Urban–Suburban Divide:

  Myth or Reality? A Critical Review of the Literature. Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 16(3),
  359-373. doi:10.1177/1524838014557289
- Ejechi, E. O. (2015). Comparative Assessment of Social Engagement, Cognitive Function and Their Relationship in Rural- and Urban-dwelling Elderly Nigerians. *IFE Psychologia*, 23(2), 13-21.
- Falconier, M. K., Randall, A. K., Bodenmann, G. (2016) *Couples coping with stress: A cross-cultural perspective*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Fein, D. J. (2004). *Married and poor: Basic characteristics of economically disadvantaged*married couples in the U.S. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research and

  Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U. S. DHHS.
- Fincham, F.D., Stanley, S., & Beach, S.R.H. (2007) Transformative processes in marriage: An analysis of emerging trends. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 69(2), 275-292.

- Foxhall, K. (2000, December). Rural life holds particular stressors for women. *Monitor on Psychology*, *31*, 30–32.
- Freeman, C., Carlson, J., & Sperry, C. (1993). Adlerian marital therapy strategies with middle income couples facing financial stress. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 21, 324-332.
- Garneau, C., Adler-Baeder, F. (2015) Changes in stepparents' coparenting and parenting following participation in a community-based relationship education program. *Family Process*. *54*(4), 590-599.
- Gottman, J.M. (1999). *The marriage clinic: A scientifically-based marital therapy*. New York, NW: WW Norton & Company.
- Gottman, J. M., & DeClaire, J. (2001). The relationship cure. New York: Crown.
- Gottman, J.M & Silver, N. (1999). *The seven principles for making marriage work*. New York, NY: Three Rivers Press.
- Gregson, K., Adler-Baeder, F., Parham, R., Ketring, S., & Smith, T. (2012). Couple and relationship education: Does curriculum matter for men? *The Forum for Family and Consumer Issues*. 17(2).
- Guerney, B., & Ortwein, M. (2004). *Mastering the mysteries of love: A relationship* enhancement program for couples. Frankfort, KY: Ideals of Kentucky.
- Gumpert, J., & Saltman, J. E. (1998). Social group work practice in rural areas: The practitioners speak. *Social Work With Groups*, *21*(3), 19-34.
- Hardie, J. H., & Lucas, A. (2010). Economic Factors and Relationship Quality among Young

- Couples: Comparing Cohabitation and Marriage. *Journal Of Marriage And Family*, 72(5), 1141-1154.
- Harmon, H. L. (2001). Education Issues in Rural Schools of America.
- Harrison, Myla E.; McKay, Mary M.; & Bannon, William M., Jr. (2004). Inner-city child mental health service use: The real question is why youth and families do not use services.

  \*Community Mental Health Journal, 40(2), 119-131.
- Hawkins, M., Carrere, S., & Gottman, J. (2002) Marital sentiment overrides: Does it influence couples' perception? *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(1), 193-201.
- Hawkins, A. J., & Erickson, S. E. (2015). Is couple and relationship education effective for lower income participants? A meta-analytic study. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 29(1), 59-68. doi:10.1037/fam0000045
- Hawkins, A. J., & Fackrell, T. A. (2010). Does relationship and marriage education for lower-income couples work? A meta-analytic study of emerging research. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 9, 181–191. doi:10.1080/15332691003694927
- Higginbotham, B., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2010). Enhancing knowledge and agreement among ethnically and economically diverse couples in stepfamilies with the smart steps:

  Embrace the journey program. *Journal of Extension*, 48 (1), 1-5.
- Higginbotham, B., Henderson, K., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2007). Using research in marriage and relationship education programming. *The Forum for Family and Consumer Issues, 12*.

- Higginbotham, B. J., & Skogrand, L. (2010). Relationship education with both married and unmarried stepcouples: An exploratory study. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 9(2), 133-148.
- Hill, J., & Scott Turney, J. (2016). Rural Education Research: A Call to Action. *Rural Educator*, 37(3), v-vii.
- Huston, T. L., Coughlin, J. P., Houts, R. M., Smith, S. E., & George, L. J. (2001). Socioemotional behavrio and satisfaction in marital relationships: a longitudinal study. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 61(5), 721-733.
- Jacobson, N. S., McDonald, D. W., Follette, W. C., & Berle, R. A. (1985). Attributional processes in distressed and non-distressed married couples. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *9*(1), 35-50.
- Jiang, G., Sun, F., & Marsiglia, F. F. (2016). Rural-urban disparities in adolexcent risky behaviors: A family social capital perspective. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 44(8), 1027-1039. doi:10.1002/jcop.21825
- Jimerson, L. (2005). Special Challenges of the "No Child Left Behind" Act for Rural Schools and Districts. *Rural Educator*, 26(3), 1-4.
- Jones, A. R., Cook, T. M., & Wang, J. (2011). Rural–urban differences in stigma against depression and agreement with health professionals about treatment. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 134(1-3), 145-150. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.05.013
- Kahn, H. S., Williamson, D. F., & Stevens, J. A. (1991). Race and weight change in US women:

  The roles of socioeconomic and marital status. *American Journal of Public Health*, 81(3),

- 319-323.
- Kamp Dush, C. M., Taylor, M.G. (2011). Trajectories of Marital Conflict Across the Life Course. *Journal of Family Issues*, *33*(3), 341-368.
- Karney, B. R., Bradbury, T. N., Fincham, F. D., & Sullivan, K. T. (1994). The role of negative affectivity in the association between attributions and marital satisfaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 66*, 413-424.
- Karney, B. R., & Bradbury, T. N. (2000). Attributions in marriage: State or trait? A growth curve analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(2), 295.
- Karney, B. R., & Bradbury, T. N. (2005). Contextual influences on marriage: Implications for policy and intervention. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14, 171–174. doi:10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00358.x
- Ketring, S. A., Bradford, A. B., Davis, S. Y., Adler-Baeder, F., McGill, J., & Smith, T. A. (2017). The role of the facilitator in couple relationship education. *Journal Of Marital And Family Therapy*, doi:10.1111/jmft.12223
- Kirkland, C. L., Skuban, E. M., Adler-Baeder, F., Ketring, S. A., Bradford, A., Smith, T., & Lucier-Greer, M. (2011). Effects of relationship/marriage education on co-parenting and children's social skills: Examining rural minority parents' experiences. *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, 13(2).
- Kolb, A. Y. & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Experiential learning theory. In *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning* (pp. 1215-1219). New York, NY: Springer US.
- Lavee, Y., Sharlin, S., & Katz, R. (1996). The effect of parenting stress on marital quality.

- Journal of Family Issues, 17, 114-135.
- Lemke, L. A. (1992). Differences in social support between rural and urban communities.
- Levinger, G., & Moels, O. C. (1979). *Divorce and separation: Context causes and consequences*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Lillywhite, J. D. (1952). Rural-urban differentials in divorce. Rural Sociology, 17(4), 348-355.
- Lucier-Greer, M., Adler-Baeder, F., Harcourt, K. T., & Gregson, K. D. (2014). Relationship education for stepcouples reporting relationship instability—Evaluation of the smart steps: Embrace the journey curriculum. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 40(4), 454-469. doi:10.1111/jmft.12069
- Marans, R.W. & Rodgers, W. (1975). Toward an understanding of community satisfaction.

  \*Metropolitan America in Contemporary Perspective, New York, NY: Sage.
- Markman, H. J., & Rhoades, G. K. (2012). Relationship education research: Current status and future directions. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *38*(1), 169-200.
- Marks, S. R., Huston, T. L., Johnson, E. M., & MacDermid, S. M. (2001). Role balance among white married couples. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 63,* 1083-1098.
- McDonald, T. W., Curtis-Schaeffer, A. K., Theiler, A. A., & Howard, E. M. (2014). Providers' perceptions of prevalent mental and behavioral health problems: Differences and similarities across urban, rural, and frontier areas. *Journal of Rural Mental Health*, 38(1), 36-49. doi:10.1037/rmh0000009
- McNulty, J. K., & Karney, B. R. (2004). Positive expectations in the early years of marriage:

  Should couples expect the best or brace for the worst? *Journal of Personality and Social*

- Psychology, 86, 729-743.
- Melvin, C. L., Corbie-Smith, G., Kumanyika, S. K., Pratt, C. A., Nelson, C., Walker, E. R., & ...

  Ricketts, T. C. (2013). Developing a Research Agenda for Cardiovascular Disease

  Prevention in High-Risk Rural Communities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(6),
  1011-1021. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300984
- Memarianfard, A. (2014). An examination of depression and anxiety in urban-rural areas of the united states: Does urbanization impact depression and anxiety? Retrieved from http://spot.lib.auburn.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1657347354?acc ountid=8421
- Mojtabai, Ramin. (2007). American's attitudes toward mental health treatment seeking: 1990-2003. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(5), 642-651.
- National Extension Relationship and Marriage Education Network (NERMEN). (2005).
- Mucciardi, M., & Santis, G. (2017). Cultural Versus Objective Distances: The DBS-EM

  Approach. *Social Indicators Research*, 130(3), 867-882. doi:10.1007/s11205-015-1213-1
- Mushinski, D., Bernasek, A., & Weiler, S. (2015). Job lock in rural versus urban labor markets. *Growth & Change*, 46(2), 253-273. doi:10.1111/grow.12069
- Nachigal, P. (1982). Rural education: In search of a better way. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Ooms, T., & Wilson, P. (2004). The challenges of offering relationship and marriage education to low-income couples. *Family Relations*, *53*, 440–447.
- Ploch, L.A. (1985). Migration origin/destination and participation/interaction. *The Structure and Impact of Population Redistribution in New England*, University Park, PA: Northeast

- Regional Center for Rural Development.
- Rauer, A. J., Adler-Baeder, F., Lucier-Greer, M., Skuban, E., Ketring, S. A., & Smith, T. (2014). Exploring processes of change in couple relationship education: Predictors of change in relationship quality. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 28(1), 65-76. doi:10.1037/a0035502
- Reardon-Anderson, J., Stagner, M., Macomber, J.E., &Murray, J. (2005) Systematic review of the impact of marriage and relationship programs: Administration for Children and Family. *US Department of Health and Human Services*.
- Reck, K. (2013). Evaluating the Smart Steps for Stepfamilies: Embrace the Journey program, a hierarchical examination. Unpublished Dissertation.
- Roberts, M. E., Doogan, N. J., Kurti, A. N., Redner, R., Gaalema, D. E., Stanton, C. A., & ...

  Higgins, S. T. (2016). Rural tobacco use across the United States: How rural and urban areas differ, broken down by census regions and divisions. *Health & Place*, *39*, 153-159.

  doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.04.001
- Rodgers, W. (1980). Residential satisfaction in relationship to size of place. *Social Psychology Ouarterly*, *43*, 436–41.
- Rogers, H. B. (2013). Koru: Teaching mindfulness to emerging adults. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning*, 2013(134), 73-81. doi:10.1002/tl.20056
- Schramm, D., & Adler-Baeder, F. (2011). Marital quality for men and women in stepfamilies: Examining the role of economic pressure, common stressors, and stepfamily-specific stressors. *Journal of Family Issues*, 20(10), 1-25.
- Shapiro, A. F., Gottman, J. M., & Carrère, S. (2000). The baby and the marriage: Identifying

- factors that buffer against decline in marital satisfaction after the first baby arrives. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14(1), 59-70. doi:10.1037//0893-3200.14.1.59
- Shaw, M. R., Grant, T., Barbosa-Leiker, C., Fleming, S. E., Henley, S., & Graham, J. C. (2015). Intervention with substance-abusing mothers: Are there rural-urban differences?

  \*American Journal on Addictions, 24(2), 144-152. doi:10.1111/ajad.12155
- Shelton, B. A. (1987). Variations in divorce rates by community size: A test of the social integration explanation. *Journal of Marriage And The Family*, 49(4), 827-32.
- Shirer, K., Chen, C. J., Contreras, D., Hamler, S., Harris, A., & Lacina, H. (2009). *A curriculum to improve co-parenting relationships of single parents. Together we can: Creating a healthy future for our family.* East Lansing: Michigan State University Extension.
- Shoesmith, W. D., & Pang, N. (2016). The interpretation of depressive symptoms in urban and rural areas in Sabah, Malaysia. *Journal Of Psychiatry*, 17(1), 43-53.
- Slack, R., & Muhammad, N. I. (2005) *Basic training for couples: A black marriage education curriculum*. Chattanooga, TN: Black Marriage Publications.
- Sprecher, S. & Cate, R. (2004). Sexual satisfaction and sexual expression as predictors of relationship satisfaction and stability. In J. H. Harvey, A. Wenzel, & S. Sprecher (Eds.), *The handbook of sexuality in close relationships* (pp. 235-256). Mahwah, MJ: Erlbaum.
- Stanley, S. M., Amato, P. R., Johnson, C. A., & Markman, H. J. (2006). Premarital education, marital quality, and marital stability: Findings from a large, random household survey. *Journal of Family Psychology, 20*(1), 117-126.
- Tennessee Higher Education Commission. (2013). Educational Attainment of Adult Residents of

- Tennessee Counties.
- The National Extension Relationship and Marriage Network. (2015, February 10) *NERMEM: The national extension relationship and marriage education model.* Retrieved from http://www.fcs.uga.edu/nermen/nermem
- Theodori, G.L., (2001) Examining the effects of community satisfaction and attachment on individual well-being. *Rural Sociology*, 66(4), 618-628.
- Thibaut, N. & Kelley, H. (1959). The social psychology of groups. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Thompson, P. (1995). *Increasing parent and caregiver understanding of the power of positive* interactions in promoting prosocial behaviour in young children.
- Thornton-Stahura, B. (1976). Rural-urban differences in marital happiness and family satisfaction: Towards a general model.
- Trail, T. E., & Karney, B. R. (2012). What's (not) wrong with low-income marriages. *Journal of Marriage & the Family*, 74, 413–427. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.00977.x
- Urbano, R. C., & Hodapp, R. M. (2007). Divorce in families of children with down syndrome: A population-based study. *American Journal On Mental Retardation*, 112(4), 261-274.
- US Department of Commerce (2010) 2010 Census Urban and Rural Classification and Urban

  Area Criteria. Retrieved on February 10, 2017, from

  https://www.census.gov/geo/reference/ua/urban-rural-2010.html
- US Department of Commerce (2010) *How many people reside in urban or rural areas for the*2010 Census? What percentage of the U.S. population is urban or rural? Retrieved from https://ask.census.gov/prweb/PRServletCustom/YACFBFye-

# $rFIz\_FoGtyvDRUGg1Uzu5Mn*/!STANDARD$

- Williamson, H. C., Altman, N., Hsueh, J., & Bradbury, T. N. (2016). Effects of relationship education on couple communication and satisfaction: A randomized controlled trial with low-income couples. *Journal of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 84(2), 156-166. doi:10.1037/ccp0000056
- Wood, R. G., McConnell, S., Moore, Q., Clarkwest, A., & Hsueh, J. (2012). The effects of building strong families: A healthy marriage and relationship skills education program for unmarried parents. *Journal Of Policy Analysis And Management*, 31(2), 228-252.
- Woodrow, K., Hastings, D. W., & Tu, E. J. (1978). Rural-urban patterns of marriage, divorce, and mortality: Tennessee, 1970. *Rural Sociology*, *43*(1), 70-86.
- Zeman, L. D. (2003). Identifying positive teacher-student interactions in a safe and engaged middle school. *ERS Spectrum*, 21(4), 24-27.
- Ziller, E. C., Anderson, N. J., & Coburn, A. F. (2010). Access to rural mental health services: Service use and out-of-pocket costs. *Journal Of Rural Health*, *26*(3), 214-224.

# Appendix A

## COUPLE/MARITAL QUALITY (From Norton, 1983)

Indicate your level of agreement with the following statements:

1=very strongly disagree

7=very strongly agree

we have a good marriage/relationship	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
my relationship with my spouse/significant other is very stable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
our marriage/relationship is strong	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
my relationship with my spouse/significant other makes me happy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I feel like a part of a team with my spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

## POSITIVE INTERACTION SCALE (Huston & Vangelisti, 1991)

On average, how often do you:

1=Never 2=Sometime, but not every day 3=Once or twice a day 4=Often throughout the day

Compliment your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Make your spouse/significant other laugh	1	2	3	4
Say "I love you" to your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Do something nice for your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Talk about the day's events with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Initiate physical affection (ex:kiss,hug) with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Share emotions/feelings/problems with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Initiate sex with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4

NEGATIVE INTERACTION SCALE (Huston & Vangelisti, 1991) Indicate your answer:

1=Never

2=Sometime, but not every day

3=Once or twice a day				
4=Often throughout the day				
Seem bored or uninterested with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Dominate the conversation with your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Show anger or impatience towards your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Criticize or complain to your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Turn down or avoid sexual advances from your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4
Fail to do something that your spouse/significant other asks	1	2	3	4
Do things that annoy (e.g., habits) your spouse/significant other	1	2	3	4